UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION
OFFICE OF ENFORCEMENT
James Lieberman, Director
In the Matter of Docket Nos. 50-528
¥ 50-529
50-530
ARIZONA PUBLIC SERVICE
COMPANY, et al.
(Palo Verde Nuclear Generating
Station, Units 1, 2, and 3)
DIRECTOR’S DECISION UNDER 10 C.F.R. §2.206
DD-92-07 ‘

I. INTRODUCTION

on July 20, 1992, David K. Colapinto, an attorney with the
National Whistleblower Center, filed a letter with the Chairman
of. the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission ("NRC"), on behalf of
two of his clients, Sarah C. Thomas and Linda E. Mitchell
("petitioners")}" The letter requesﬁs the NRC to take enforcement
action against the Arizona Public Service Company ("APS"),
licensee for the Palo Verde facility, where petitioners are
employed, alleging Yiolations of Commission’s fmployee Protection
prbvisions. See 10 C.F.R. §50.7. Specifically, pétitioners
allege that they have been subjected to harassﬁent, intimidation,
discrimination, and a "hostile work environment" by Palo Verde
managemeht. Petiﬁioners éequest that the NRC initiate a
" proceeding directing APS to show cause why the Palo Verde

licenses should not be revoked, modified, or suspended. In

addition, petitioners request the NRC to assess a civil penalty
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against APS in the amount of at least $1.2 million. The letter
is being treated as a petition under the NRC’s regulations
contained in 10 C.F.R.,§2.206, and has been referred to me for a
reeponse. By letter dated August 11, 1992, this Office
acknowledged receipt of petitioners’ request for enforcement
action and bromised a response within a reasonable time:.! After
further reyiew, the petitioners’ request has been granted in part

and denied in part, as described below.

IXY. BACRGROUND

Petitioners’ request is based upon two Recommended Decisions
and Orders ("Recommended Decisions") issued by two Administrative
Law Judges ("ALJs") in proceedings before the U.S. Department of
Laéor,("DOL"), pursuant to section 210 of the Energy
Reorganization Act ("ERA"), 42 U.S. C. §5851.2 In each case, the
DOL ALJs found that APS had dlscrlmlnated against one of 1ts
employees for engaging 1n protected activity in violation of

Section 210 of the Energy Reorganization Act ("ERA"). See Sarah

Thomas v. Arizona Public Service Co., 89-ERA-19 (April 13, 1989);

Linda Mitchell v. Arizona Public Service Co., 91-ERA-9 (July 2,

1992). Both cases are now under review by the Secretary of Labor

»

("Secretary").

IThe lettersalso denied petitioners’ request that the NRC
take enforcement action "within 30 days."

’section 210 has recently been renumbered section 211 in
amendments contained in section 2902 of The Energy Policy Act of
1992, H. R. 776, SLgned into law on October 24, 1992.







Briefly, the ' ALJ in the Thomas case found that Ms.. Thomas’
first-line supervisor reassigned her to a more demanding and less
desirable job because éhe raised safety concerns to h;gher Aﬁs
management. The.ALJ also found tﬁat’subsequent qisériminatory
actions by APS included denying Ms. Thomas -a promotion, treating
Ms. Thomas differently from another employee when they were both
beiﬁg considered for another promotion, requiring ﬁs. Thomas to
complete unnecessary training, and suspending Ms. Thomas’
certifications to conduct various tests.

ﬂIn the Mitchell case, another ALJ found that Ms. Mitchell
was discriminated againét as a result of the presence of a

"hostile work environment." Specifically, the ALJ found that Ms.

Mitchell was subjected to a series of actions which comprised a

_hostile work environment in retaliation for engaging in certain

Hprgtected activities. .The protected activities included raising
‘éafetipconéerns to APS management and to the NRC, including
concerns fégafd;hé‘groblems with emé;gency lighting at Palo
Verde. The ALJ found that APS management failed to take prompt,
effective remedial action to halt this harassment.  The pet}tion
asks the NRC to take enforcement action against APS,

notwithstanding the pendency of the Secretary’s review of both

cases.
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. . o ITI. DISCUSSION

) A. Enféfcement Action On The Mitchell and_Thomas Cases.
Upon receipt of tﬁe Mitchell decision, the Nkc Staff Began

,reviewiné that action, as well as the Thomaswcase: The NRC had
not taken enforcement action on the Thomas case because at the
time that deci;ion was issued, the NRC normally deferred action
on secéion 210 cases until after a final'decision by the
Secretary of Labor on the allegations of discrimination.?
Recently, however, the NRC Staff completed an enforcement action
involving the Byron facility based upon a decision by the
Secretary of Labor issued more than‘five years after the
discrimination occuréed. See Commonwealth Ediéon‘Co., EA 92-019
(April 22, 1992) NUREG-0940, Vol. 11, No. 2, I.B-1; see also DbL
Case No. 87-ERA-4 (Jan. 22, 1952[f As a result of that action,
the NRC staff, after consultation wiFh the Commission, concluded
that more timelf'action was appropriate. Therefore, in the -
future, the NRC Staff will normally take enforcement action in
significant cases of discrimination afterhan initiai finding of
discrimination against an NRC licensee by a DOL ALJ. However, in

light of the fact that all ALJ Recommended pecisions are

automaticallf‘reviewed by the Secretary of Labor, the NRC will

. Jsee, e.qg., General Electric Co. (Wilmington, North Carolina
Facility), DD-86-11, 24 NRC 325, 331-32 (1986); General Electric
Co. (Wilmington, North Carolina Facility), DD-89-1, 29 NRC 325,
330 (1989).







allow a licensee to defer a response to a-Notice of Violation
until after the final ruling by the Sécretaryf

In accordance,with this new policy, the NRC has now taken
enforcement action againstAAPS based upon the ALJ decisioﬁs in
Mitchell and Thomas. On September 30, 1992, Mr. John B. Martin,

" Regional Administrator of NRC Region V, issued a Notice of
Violation and Proposed Imposition of Civil Penalty to APS for the
two violations in the combined amoﬁnt of $i30,000. See
Enforcement Action 92-139 (Sept. 30,“£§92) ("éA 92-139"). This
action was taken in accordance with the "General Staéement of
Policy and Procedure for NRC Enforcement Actions" (Enforcement
Policy), 10 C.F.R. Part 2, Appendix C. 1In addi;ion, the NRC
asked APS to address (1) the actions taken to minimizé any
possible chilling effect resulting from the circumstancés
surrounding the Thomas and Mitchell cases; and (2) any actions
taken to assess employee concerns reiated to reservations related
to raising safeé& iséues and actioné taken to eliminate or
ﬁinimize those‘reservations.

The NRC‘considered the violation in the Thomas case to be a
Severity Level III violation because the discrimination involved
principally Ms. Thomas’ first-liné supervisor. See Enforcement
Policy, Supplement VII. HThe NRC considered the violation
concerning Ms. Mitchell to be a Severity Level II violation based

pfimarily upon the actions of the individual who was employed by

APS at that time as the Director of Quality Assurance (QA).

Those actions are of particular concern to the NRC because, as







the Director of QA, this person was responsible for the Employee
Concerns Program and for protecting those persons who raised
safety concerns from harassment and discriminatiqp and whose
position was above first-line supervisor. The issuance of EA 92-
139 sends a strong meséage to the llcensee that discrihination by
APS management -- at ;ny level -- will not be tolerated.

Petitioners suggest that the NRC assess a civil penalty of

$1,200,000 on APS. I have found that a civil penalty in that

"amount is not warranted. The appropriate guidance for assessing
" a civil penalty is found in the Commission’s Enforcement Policy.
TﬁeiEnforcement Policy classifies different types of violations
by their relative severity, provideé examples of the tipes of
violations and the recommended severity levels for these
violations, describes the circumstances in which formal
sanctions, including orders, civil penalties, and notices of
violation are appropriate, and provides factors that should be
considered in détermining whether the proposed civil penalty
should be mitigated or escalated. Petitioners did not address
either the examples and severity levels or the escalation and
mitigation factors in recommending a proposed civil penalty.*

In arguing that the NRC should assess a civil penalty of
$100,000 for each indibidual action thathis allgged to be

‘ discrimination, Petitioners, in effect, are asking the NRC to

) ‘In assessing the proposed civil penalty, the NRC reviewed
‘the escalation and mitigation factors in the Enforcement Policy
and concluded that no adjustment in the base civil penalty was
appropriate. .
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treat each alieged APS act of harassment in both the Thomas and
Mitchell cases as an:individ&al Severity Level I violation. That
éreatment is not warranted for two reasons. . First, under tpe
ﬁgforéement*Poliéyj Supplement VII, Eﬁe exampie provided of a
Severity Level I violation is employment disérimination by senior
corporate management. The only involvement by APS corporate.
management above the plant level in either case before me now is

the tangential’ involvement of Mr. William Conway, at the time in

question thée incoming APS vice-president, in the Mitchell case.

However, the ALJ generaily complimented Mr. Conway’s actions, see

Mitchell, Slip Op. at 38-39 and 43, and I have no reason to
disagree with the ALJ’s analysis at ﬁpis time. Thus, there is no
reason to treat the "hostile work environment" in this case as a
Severity Level I violation.

Second, in the NRC’s, judgment, the individual actions in the
Thomas andiMitchell cases, while serious, do not rise to the
level of severiéy necessary to conséituté separate violations of

10 C.F.R. §50.7. 1In fact, the ALJ in the Thomas. case

specifically found that the individual "items" in that case would

not‘constitute employment discrimination in and of themselves;

| ipstead, it was only when those "items" were viewed in the
context of the entire picture that they constituted.

‘ discriminati?n. See Thomas, élip Op. at 8. Accérdingly, it was
appropriaté to treat Fhe’actions in éhe Thomas case in the
aggregate. Likewise, the discrimination in the Mitchell case did

not consist of separate individual violations; instead, the

A







discrimination consisted of a hostile work environment which was
a single aggregate action. Thus, it was not appropriate to treat

each individual action in these two cases as a separate violation

of section 50.71? -

Petitioners also'justify the proposed $1,200,000 civil
penalty by reliance upon the NRC’s actions in Tennessee Valley
Authority, EA 89-201 (April 12, 1990) NUREG-0940 Vol 9, No. 4,

I.A-66 ("EA 89-201"), in which the NRC issued a civil penalty .of

| $240,000. - However, as that case clearly demonstrates, the NRC

followed the Enforcement Policy described above. In EA 89-201,
the NRC found that three employees of the Tennéssee Valley
Authority ("TVA") were feassigned to new positions in retaliatioﬁ
for raising safety concerns to an NRC Commissioner. ' The TVA .
official who was principally involved was aumembef of plant
management above first-level supervisor. Therefore, each
vioiétién was classified as a Severity Leve& II violation for
which the civilkpenalty under the Eﬁforcement Policy was $80,000.
Thus; the aggregate civil penalty was $240,000. Likewise, in
this case, the NRC has based the proposed civil penalty upon the

level of the individuals who were primarily or most effectively

SWhile the NRC concludes that treatment of each action as a
violation is not approprlate in this enforcement action, the NRC
reserves the right to treat individual actions as separate

violations in an appropriate case.
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. this petition.

involved in the discrimination in the two actions involved in

6

B. “Additional Alleqations of Employment Discrimination at APS.

The petition alleges that Ms. Mitchell has suffered
additional acts of employee discrimination at Palo Verde after»
the events that are the subject of the DOL Recommended Decision.
Specifically, petitioners assert that a recent finding by the Ddi
Wage’ and Hour Divisioﬁ requires an escalation of any civil
penalty. On May 8, 1992, the Assistant District Director,
Employment Standards Administration, Wage and Hour Division, DoL,
issued a preliminary finding that Ms. Mitchell’s April 1992
Performance Appraisal had been lowered because she engaged in
prdtected activ;ty. APS has filed anAappeal from that finding,
init;ating the DOL hearing proéess. - That appeal has been
consolidated wigh other pending matters for hearing before a DOL’
ALJ. ' i

The NRC has already taken prompt action in response to the
DOL’s finding. Initially, the NRC securea the DOL investigatioq

file and reviewed it. Subsequently, on May 22, 1992, Mr. John .

‘petitioners also ask that the NRC take action against the
former APS QA Director individually. At this time, however,
there is not sufficient information to warrant enforcement action

. directly against that -individual. See 10 C.F.R. Part 2, Appendix

C, Section V. E. While that individual’s actions were a
significant contribution to the hostile work environment, they
may not have constituted a violation of-10 C.F.R. §50.7, in and
of themselves. Therefore, the NRC will not take enforcement
action against this individual at this time. The NRC will review
the Secretary’s final decision in the Mitchell proceeding and
determine at that time if additional action is warranted.

9
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Martin} Admihistrator, NRC Region V, iésugd a letter fo APS,
informing APS management that the NRC was concerned that this
action might constitute a violation of 10 C.F.R. §50.7 and that
it might have a "chilling effect" on the willingness of e&bloyees
or contractor personnel to raise safety concerns. épecifically,
the letter asked APS to provide the NRC with the basis for the
action taken against Ms. Mitchell and to explain what steps APS
‘was takipé to ensurefthat emplo?ees were fully informed of their
rights to address safety éoncerns to the NRC or any other
regulatory agency withogt fear of retaliation.

On June 23, 1992,_APS-respondgd to the NRC’s May 22 letter.
In its }esponse, APS provided its version of the, events in
guestion ahd described the steps it was taking té ensure that all.
APS employees were aware of their rights under the ERA and the
Atéﬁic Energy Act ("AEA"). A§ I noted abovg, the NRC normally
wiil await a decision by a DOL ALJ before taking enforcement
action. After feviewing APS’ responée of June 23, the NRC Staff
saw no need to deviate from the NRC’s normal policy in this case
at this time. The NRC will continue to monitor this case. Once
the DOL ALJ issues a Recommended Decision, the NRC will consider

whether enforcement action is warranted.

C. Allegations of A "Hostile Work Environment" at Palo Verde.
- The petition also alleges that APS has created a "hostile

work environment" at Palo Verde which discourages Palo Verde

employees from raising safety concerns. As a result of that

\
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allegation anc the decisipns in the Thomas and hitchell cases,

, t@e NRC Staff recently conducted an unannounced special
inspection at Palo Verde to gain insight into.the perceptions and
attitudes of workers at the site with reéard to their agility to
raise significant safety issues. See NRC Inspection kepért No.
50-528/529/530/92-33 (Oct. 8, 1992) ("Inspection Report 92-33"),
During this inspect%on, NRC éersonnel interviewed 314 site
employees who were either APS direct employees or-APS
contractors. Inspection Report 92-33 at 2-4. These employees
comprised a sample of Palo Verde employees who performed safety-
significant work.. .

Of those employees interviewed, approximately 92% stated
that they felt free to raise significant safety issues to their
immediate supervisor, to higher levels of APS management, to the
Employee Concerns Program or "Hotline," or to the NRC.
Inspection Report 92-33 at 4. Approximately 6% of those
interviewed indibated‘that they felt‘free to raise significant
safety issues to their immediate supervisor but felt some
reluctance to raise the issues'higher. Id. Approximately 2% of
those interviewed felt some reluctance to raise significant
safety issues to their immediate supervisors. Id. The survey
did not determine the root cause for the reluctance that was
exprepséﬁ by 8% of those interviewed. Inspection Report 92-33 at

5.7

"Furthermore, five of those employees interviewed informed
the NRC inspectors that they believed that they hgd suffered
employment discrimination in retaliation for raising safety

11




"In its letter transmitting Inspectioh Report 92-33 to APS,

the NRC concluded that |

‘[wlhile these results are not indicative of a

widespread problem with reluctance of APS

employees to raise significant safety issues

to their immediate supervisors or above, they

do indicate that the environment at Palo

Verde for raising significant safety concerns

can be improved. Please advise us of your

- plans in this regard.

The NRC was and is concerned over any perception that an employee
might suffer discrimination because of raising safety concerns.
Therefore, the NRC Staff requested APS to adv1se it of the steps
being taken to resolve this perception problem, in addition to
the response required in reply to EA 92-139, concerning plans to
assess the extent employees have reservations for raising safety -
concerns. On October 30, 1992, APS filed a consolidated response
to both Inspection Report 92-33 and EA 92-139, detailing the
steps that it is in the process of taking to address this
concern. 1In light of the findings of the NRC special inspection
at Palo Verde as expressed in Inspection Report 92-33, APS’
.response to the NRC'’s May 22, 1992 letter, and APS’ response to
EA-92-139 and Inspection Report 92-33, I have -concluded that no

further action is necessary at this time regarding petitioners’

allegation of a "hostile work environment" at Palo Verde.:

concerns. The NRC will review these claims through the NRC
allegation process. See Inspection Report 92-33 at 5.

12
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'D.  Request For Institution of -Proceedings Under Section 2.206.
| ‘Petitioners request that the NRC initiate show cause
proéeedinés to revoke, modify and/or suspend.Palo Verde’s
oper;?ing license. The institution of-proceediﬁgs in response to
é request for action under 10 C.F.R. §2.206 is appropriate only
when substantial health and safety issues have been raised. See
Copsolidated Edison Co. of New York (Indian Point, Units 1, 2,
and 3), CLI-75-8, 2 NRC 173, 176 (1975), and Arizona Public"
Service Co.:(Palo Verde Nuclear Generating Station, Unité 1, 2,

~and 3), DD-92-1, 35 NRC 133, 143-44 (1992). While the
allegations contained in the instant petition are indeed serious,
they do not raise substantial health and safety issues that would,
justify revocation, suséension, or modification of the Palo Verde
licenses. 1Instead, I find that the NRE staff’s actions described
above were the appropriate responsé to the DOL Recommended

Decigions consisFent with the Commission’s Enforcement Policy.

Accordingly, I have concluded that no basis exists for initiating

a proceeding as requested by petitioners.
IV. CONCLUSION

In csnclusién, I have granéed the petition ihsqfar aé it
requests that the ﬁRC take enforcemen£ action against APS for the
discrimination demonstrated in the Thomas and Mitchellﬁéases. I
have denied the request to the extent that the petition seeks a

civil penalty above $130,000 and requests that proceedings be

13







initiated to show cause why the license should not be revoked,
“mo&ified, and/or suspended.

A copy of this decision will be filed with the Sec%etarj of
éhe Commission for the Commission’to review in accordance with 10
C.F.R. §2.206(c5. As provided by this regulatioﬁ, this Decision
will constitute the final action of the Commission 25 éay; after
issuanée, unless the Commission, on its own motion, institutes a
ré;iew of the decision within that time.

FOR THE NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

es Lieberman, Director
ffice of Enforcement

Dated at,Rockville, Maryland,
this erdday of November, 1992
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